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I, Michael P. Sullivan, being duly sworn, depose and state that I am an Assistant United
States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida and act for and on behalf of the Government of
France pursuant to the Extradition Treaty between the United States of America and France entered
into force on February 1, 2002, (the Treaty) with respect to Manuel Antonio Noriega (“Noriega”).

In accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 3184, I charge, on information and
belief, as follows:

1. Noriega is duly and legally charged with having committed, in the jurisdiction of
France, the crime of engaging in financial transactions with the proceeds of illegal drug trafficking,
in violation of section 415 of the French Customs Code (Law 88-1149 of December 23, 1988,
promulgated on December 28, 1988).

Article 2 of the Treaty provides that a charge for such offense shall serve as the basis for the
extradition.

2. A warrant for Noriega’s arrest was issued on July 1, 1999, by the High Court of Paris,
France.

3. According to an investigation by French authorities, Noriega is wanted based on the
following facts:

Noriega engaged in financial transactions in France with the proceeds of illegal drug
trafficking activity. During the 1970s and 1980s, Noriega served as chief of Panama’s military

intelligence and later as commander of the Panamanian Defense Forces. He was arrested by U.S.




forces in Panama in January 1990. Noriega was convicted on April 9, 1992 in the Southern District
of Florida of drug trafficking activities in connection the trafficking of drugs from Colombia to the
United States.

Noriega’s trial in the United States showed that in the 1'9805: he came into contact with
members of the Medellin, Colombia drug cartel, who were looking for ways to ship cocaine from
Colombia through Panama into the United States and to launder the proceeds of drug sales. Noriega
and the Medellin cartel reached a series of illicit égreements, whereby, with Noriega’s assistance,
the drug cartel transported significant quantities of cocaine through Panama to the United States from
1982 through 1985. They also used Noriega’s protection to transport ether for cocaine processing
and cash proceeds from their drug transactions to or through Panama. The Medellin cartel directed
large cash payments to Noriega, which he deposited in banks in Panama and Europe.

The evidence against Noriega on which the French have relied is taken in part from the
testimony at his U.S. trial and in part from investigation in France. Several witnesses at Noriega’s
trial in the United States testified about the payments that Noriega received from the Medellin cartel,
which were the proceeds of drug trafficking. These witnesses include Steven Kalish, Ricardo
Bilonick, Floyd Carlton and Carlos Lehder. Steven Kalish, a marijuana dealer, testified that with
Noriega’s assistance, he transported marijuana through Panama to the United States, and that he
laundered millions of dollars in drug proceeds through Panamanian banks, including the Bank of
Credit and Commerce International (BCCI) in Panama. In 1983 and 1984, Kalish paid Noriega $2.5
million for his assistance in his illegal activities. Ricardo Bilonick also testified about the role that
Noriega played in assuring the safe passage of numerous flights between Panama and Miami, in
which the cargo was either cocaine destined for the United States or the cash proceeds of drug sales
sent to Panama. In 19 such flights, some 20 tons of cocaine was transported, and Noriega received
a fee of $500,000 per flight. Up to $60 million in cash proceeds of drug trafficking was deposited
in three different Panamanian banks. Floyd Carlton, a pilot who worked for Noriega, and Carlos

Lehder, a member of the Medellin cartel, both confirmed Noriega’s involvement in drug trafficking



and the millions Noriega received in payment for his assistance.

The manager of the BCCI in Panama, Amjad Awan, who was convicted along with several

other conspirators of money laundering in the Middle District of Florida (see United States v. Awan,
966 F.2d 1415 (11™ Cir. 1992)), admitted that Noriega opened secret accounts at BCCI, ostensibly
for funds of the Panamanian National Guard. In fact, however, the accounts were controlled by
Noriega and for his benefit. He made large cash deposits on a regular basis. Starting in January
1982 and continuing into 1988, Noriega made deposits into his accounts at BCCI in Panama about
every other month, in amounts ranging from $100,000 to more than $3 million. A financial analyst
inthe U.S. trial of Noriega concluded that Noriega’s Panama-based accounts received total deposits
of $19 million.

Starting in 1983, money was transferred from Noriega’s BCCI accounts in Panama to BCCI
branches in London, where accounts were opened in the names of Noriega and various of his family
members. Money was then transferred from London to BCCI branches or other banks in
Luxembourg, Switzerland, France, Germany and Austria. At one point, several million dollars that
had been transferred to BCCI in Luxembourg was sent to London to an account opened by Capcom
Corporation. Capcom Corporation was run by a person named Akbar, who had agreed to receive
funds owned by Noriega in order to keep their true owner secret. Numerous transfers of funds were
made, often through the BCCI network of branches, so that it was difficult to trace the source of the
funds.

Investigation in France has identified a number of transactions involving accounts in France
attributable to Noriega. The transactions that form the basis of the French prosecution occurred
between December 28, 1988 and December 22, 1989. These transactions involve a total of
approximately 15 million French francs that were transferred from Panama via the United Kingdom,
the United States, Germany, Switzerland, Austria, Luxembourg, and other countries to bank accounts
in France. The bank accounts in France include accounts in Paris and Marseille at Credit Industriel

& Commercial (CIC), Banque Nationale de Paris (BNP), Credit Lyonnais, Banco del Brazil, and



BCCIL They were opened in the names of Noriega, his family members and some Panamanian
diplomats in France. [Unlawful transactions involving another $20 million French francs in drug
proceeds are attributable to Mrs. Felicidad Noriega, the wife of Manuel Noriega).

In addition, Noriega’s funds emanating from illegal drug trafficking were used to purchase
three apartments in Paris. In October 1982, an apartment at 228 rue de I’Universite was purchased
for 1,810,000 francs by a Panamanian corporation, Gaswitt Investment, run by Gaspar Wittgreen.
The payment was made with three checks drawn on the Banque Nationale de Paris (BNP) in Paris,
checks that were sent by Wittgreen acting on behalf of Felicidad Noriega. In 1983, Felicidad
Noriega purchased an apartment at 55/63 quai de Grenelle, Tour Totem, for 2.4 million French
francs. In December 1984, an apartment at 91/93 quai d’Orsay was purchased by another Panama-
based company, Capricorno International, represented by Wittgreen. The purchase was financed by
a loan of $400,000, which was personally guaranteed by Noriega. Three names were listed as
occupants of the apartment: Capricorno S.A., Wittgreen, and Noriega.

Norieéa was convicted in absentia in France on July 1, 1999 and sentenced to 10 years of
imprisonment and a fine of 75 million French francs. The reason that the French prosecution and
conviction are based on the financial transactions that took place from December 28, 1988 to
December 22, 1989, is that the French law criminalizing this type of activity, section 415 of the
Customs Code, took effect on December 28, 1988. The French extradition request includes an
assurance that Noriega is entitled to a new trial once he is in France.

4. Noriega, who is within the jurisdiction of this Court, is currently incarcerated in a
federal prison in Miami, Florida, serving a sentence imposed in 1992 for a drug-related conviction
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida.

5. Noriega is a citizen of Panama, male, born on February 11, 1938 in Darien, Panama.

6. In a request attached hereto, the government of France has formally requested the
extradition of Noriega to France.

Whereupon, your complainant requests:



a. that a warrant be issued pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3184, for
Noriega’s arrest;

b. that Noriega be brought before this Court and the evidence of criminality be heard,;

c. that if, on such hearing, the Court deems the evidence sufficient under the provisions of
the Treaty to sustain the charges, the Court certify the same to the Secretary of State in order that a
warrant may be issued for Noriega’s surrender to the appropriate authorities of France according to
the Treaty; and

d. that this Court take such other actions as may be required under the provisions of the

Treaty and the laws of the United States to meet the obligations of the United States under the

Treaty.
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Sworn to before me and subscribed in my-presence this] day of July, 2007 at Miami,
Florida
AND A WARRANT SHALL ISS (
WILLIAM C. TURNOFF
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE HTDGE
Certified to be a true and
cc: Michael P. Sullivan, AUSA correct copy of the document on fije
U.S. Marshal Service Clarence Maddox, Clerk,

U.S. Digtrict Court
) uth Di§g#ciof Florida
Py ,
By (=3

JUL { 7D2w7 Clerk

iJate




